VIOLENCE, COLONIALISM & THE THIRD WORLD WOMAN

VIOLENCE, COLONIALISM, & THE THIRD WORLD WOMAN:

A Postcolonial Discourse Analysis on Violence Against South Asian Women

By CHRISELLE L. VAZ, BSW

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree Master of Social Work

McMaster University © Copyright by Chriselle Vaz, September 2020

McMaster University Master of Social Work (2020) Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Violence, Colonialism, & the Third World Woman: A Postcolonial Discourse Analysis on Violence Against South Asian Women

AUTHOR: Chriselle L. Vaz, BSW (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Ameil Joseph

NUMBER OF PAGES: vi, 64

ABSTRACT:

Intimate partner violence impacts women around the world and therefore does not present itself congruently across cultures or regions (Devries et al., 2013; Sarkar, 2010; World Health Organization, 2012). Many contemporary researchers strive to name, classify and understand experiences of intimate partner violence that are distinct to the South Asian subcontinent and members of the South Asian diaspora (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Bloch & Rao, 2002; Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014; Jeyaseelan et al., 2007; Mani, 1987; Panchanadeswaran, & Koverola, 2005). Their works contribute to a dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women that often frames cultural understandings and practices to be the cause of harm within this community. A dominant discourse which predominantly utilizes Western feminist understandings of "patriarchy" and oppression primarily serves to further homogenize, Other, and essentialize the experiences of South Asian women which cannot and should not be discussed in contrast to violence in a Western context. The impact of applying a Western lens to violence against South Asian women is that Western scholars take on the responsibility of identifying and prioritizing the needs of South Asian peoples and offer solutions to these issues without considering the systems of support that already exist or asking those impacted how they imagine change. This project engages a postcolonial discourse analysis to examine dominant discourses on violence against South Asian women as they are deployed within the context, literature, and research on intimate partner violence. Through analyzing 75 highly cited articles using a postcolonial lens, this project unearths commonalities across the dominant discourse such as the use of positivistic colonial research methods, the construction of a monolithic South Asia, the technologies of neoliberalism and colonial capitalism, and the archetype of the Third World Woman via white feminism. These reoccurring themes throughout the dominant discourse

iv

indicate the existence of an inferiorizing and oversimplified understanding of South Asian people and their experiences which is frequently framed using colonial technologies and the white gaze. Deconstructing these mechanisms can create an intentional space for anti-colonial ways of being and knowing as a South Asian person and discussions of violence in the South Asian subcontinent and diaspora without essentializing, homogenizing, or erasing aspects of these experiences.

Key words: South Asia, violence against women, postcolonialism, discourse

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

I want to thank my thesis supervisor, Dr. Ameil Joseph for his wealth of knowledge, guidance, and reassurance throughout this process. Your mentorship throughout my entire social work education has encouraged me to remain critical, trust my gut, and seek out knowledge that is not taught in the classroom.

I am grateful for my parents and my brother who have provided me with invaluable life lessons and endless support during every endeavour I take on. Thank you for your love, as well as your motivation and encouragement to learn as much as I can and seize opportunities that challenge me. None of this would be possible without you by my side.

Finally, thank you to all of my friends, family, and loved ones for taking the time to pray for me, check in on my progress with this project, and cheer me on along the way. You have all reminded me that this is a worthwhile labour of love.

This project is dedicated to all of the powerful, courageous, and resilient women who continue to teach, provide care, and pass down generational knowledge and traditions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS:
Abstract iv
Acknowledgements vi
Introduction
Literature Review
Violence Against South Asian Women14
Culture as Complicit of Violence 17
Key Concepts from Postcolonial Literature 19
Conceptualizing South Asian Feminism 21
Violence Through a Postcolonial Lens
Methodology
Methods
Analysis of Findings
Discussion
Colonial Research Methods 35
Monolithic South Asia 39
Neoliberalism and Colonial Capitalism
The Third World Woman & White Feminism 44
Conclusion
Appendix A 50
Bibliography 58

INTRODUCTION

Intimate partner violence is understood as an issue that impacts women around the world regardless of their demographics, identity, social positioning, culture or religion and has been identified by the World Health Organization as a global health problem of epidemic proportions (Devries et al., 2013; Sarkar, 2010; World Health Organization, 2012; World Health Organization, 2013). When conceptualizing intimate partner violence on a global scale, it is important to recognize that this type of violence often does not present itself or manifest congruently across cultures. Scholars such as Ahmed, Reavey, and Majumdar (2009) and Razack (2003) have attempted to identify the variety of ways that intimate partner violence can manifest uniquely based on cultural and historical considerations. More specifically, there is a growing body of work that conceptualizes and tries to name experiences of intimate partner violence that are distinct to the South Asian subcontinent and members of the South Asian diaspora (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Bloch & Rao, 2002; Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014; Jeyaseelan et al., 2007; Mani, 1987). Researchers have also begun to investigate the unique barriers to accessing supports and fleeing abusive relationships for South Asian women in North America such as language barriers, immigration status, and intracultural norms and pressures (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Panchanadeswaran & Koverola, 2005). Together, these works contribute to a dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women that often frames cultural understandings and practices to be the cause of harm within this community.

A dominant discourse which predominantly utilizes Western feminist understandings of "patriarchy" and oppression primarily serves to further homogenize, Other, and essentialize the experiences of South Asian women which cannot and should not be discussed in contrast to violence in a Western context. The impact of applying a Western lens to violence against South

Asian women is that Western scholars take on the responsibility of identifying and prioritizing the needs of South Asian peoples and offer solutions to these issues without considering the systems of support that already exist or asking those impacted how they imagine change. With this white, Western gaze frequently being applied to the experiences of South Asian women, it is imperative to disrupt this discourse by applying a postcolonial lens and creating opportunities to understand these experiences of violence through a lens which considers the social, political, and historical complexities of the South Asian subcontinent from the perspective of South Asian people. This shift will allow for South Asian peoples to regain control of the way their experiences are portrayed and discussed and allow for meaningful reflection on their needs without the assertion of colonial, capitalist agendas. In the context of social work, it is important to understand how such discourses are constructed and the ways in which they inform social work practice. Dominant discourses often shape trainings and methods of practice which are implemented in the field and therefore directly impact service users who hold these identities.

Additionally, within the emerging literature about the cultural practices and barriers these women experience, much of the discourse is focused on understanding this issue from a Western perspective and presenting it in a digestible way for white audiences; a phenomena often referred to as the "white gaze" (Barry, 1995; Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014; Ganguly, 2006). The desire to "understand" a culture or community in a measurable way comes from a positivist lens that places hegemonic value on empirical data and generalizable conclusions. Many academics are taught to view research as a tool to understand hidden truths because of the notion that there is always an explicit answer to a question if you know what to ask and where to look (Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014; Ganguly, 2006). These practices are so pervasive that it is often members of the South Asian diaspora that are researching and repackaging nuanced, heterogenous experiences in

a way that is palatable to those outside of the community. In order to do this, authors have to select the narrative that they want to construct and synthesize vastly different communities, cultures, religious groups, castes, etc. into a cohesive conclusion (Razack, 2003). This process upholds colonial infrastructure and often erases and silences the centuries of history, culture and tradition that is inherent to the South Asian subcontinent. Without regard for the nuances and complexities, the experiences of South Asian peoples are reduced to essentialisms and inferiorizing oversimplifications which imply Western dominance as the authorities of knowledge about violence against women.

The purpose of this research project is to challenge the dominant discourse and determine how literature about violence against South Asian women could benefit from a postcolonial analysis. A postcolonial analysis will invite questions such as "how does this text explicitly or implicitly discuss aspects or implications of colonial oppression?", "what does this text reveal about the complex relationship between personal and cultural identity such as hybridity and mimicry?", "who does this text identify as the 'Other' and how are they described?", "is this text making generalizations or assumptions about South Asian women?" and "who is benefitting from the output of this text and its conclusions?" Through reading and asking these questions of highly cited texts within the dominant discourse, I aim to identify the ways that the experiences of South Asian women are misunderstood and often generalized to be palatable within the "white gaze".

Postcolonial theory provides an invaluable lens for topics such as this because it allows for the deconstruction of methodologies that were created as colonial tools to study the people of colonized lands (Said, 1978). It questions the ways that researchers often frame their research question to elicit desires responses, validate their preconceived conclusions and collect

generalizable data (Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014; Ganguly, 2006). Postcolonial theory inquires about ways of being and knowing that existed before colonization and is concerned with unearthing the ways that colonial research methods perpetuate the ideology that people of colonial lands are backward, lesser, and deserving of colonization (Said, 1978).

The field of postcolonial studies works to highlight the historical, social, and political contexts of South Asian experiences in a way that emphasizes and deconstructs contemporary issues in a meaningful way for members of the South Asian subcontinent and diaspora (Ashcroft, Griffiths & Tiffin, 2002; Gandhi, 1998; Loomba, 1998; Young, 2001). Postcolonial studies has worked to dispel the notion that research must produce generalizable findings in order to be valid and actively challenges colonial products in favour of methods that centre the voices and experiences of marginalized people (Spivak, 1999). By recognizing the limitations of the "white gaze" that is prevalent in many aspects of Western scholarship, I aim to go beyond the dominant discourse and deconstruct tropes and stereotypes that are often propagated in order to frame narratives about South Asian women. Through a postcolonial lens, my research strives to acknowledge that there can be a coexistence of multiple truths and that existence is multifaceted and layered (Loomba, 1998). I hope to shed light on a means of analysis that does not fit the mould of one Western methodology but rather draws from worldviews and understandings that cannot be quantified or synthesized in a single way. A postcolonial framework allows for the platform to deconstruct, critique, and contextualize the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women from the perspective of the subjugated Other. Although this invites viewpoints that often are not seen in Western academic literature, the main limitation is that it may not be seen as "credible" or "scholarly". This limitation is something that is fundamental to postcolonial studies as a rejection of colonial research methods is deeply entrenched in the field.

This research study is grounded in my ontological positioning as a South Asian woman who is part of the diaspora in Canada. It is important to note that "South Asian" as an identify marker is a colonial construct and a tool used to homogenize the experiences of diverse individuals from the South Asian subcontinent. I use this term because it is a commonly known and understood way of identifying individuals, like myself, who themselves or whose ancestors are from a region within this subcontinent. However, my use of the term "South Asian" is critical because I believe it insinuates the existence of a homogenous ethnic group which simply does not exist. My social location provides me with insight about the nuances of South Asian culture and the complex history of South Asian peoples which has been severely impacted by colonialism. Because of this lens, my research stems from a refusal of the idea of a homogenous South Asia, namely in cultural practices, traditions, and beliefs. When acknowledging that the subcontinent is comprised of thousands of years of culture and knowledge as well as hundreds of languages, numerous religions, and countless ways of being, it is disconcerting to see literature that essentializes these experiences.

A postcolonial discourse analysis, unlike other methods of discourse analysis, is formed against the grain of colonial research practices and seeks to pinpoint technologies of ongoing colonialism, oppression, and subjugation through discourse while also highlighting the ways that discourse is constructed, who it is constructed by, and the purposes that it serves (Gandhi, 1998; Loomba, 1998; Young, 2001). This type of analysis will allow me to frame an important issue, such as violence against South Asian women, in a way that validates and recognizes the complexities and nuances of these women's identities, social positioning, and historical and cultural contexts (Bhabha, 1994; Ganguly, 2006; Mani, 1987; Said, 1978; Spivak, 1999).

Through seminal works, such as those by Said (1978), Spivak (1999) and Bhabha (1994), it is possible to understand the depth and complexity of a postcolonial analysis.

This theoretical lens assumes that most research practices are entrenched in colonial practices and serve, often unintentionally, to perpetuate harmful systems of knowledge, power, and dominance over the colonized Other (Mani, 1987; Said, 1978; Spivak, 1999). These tenets of postcolonial theory lend themselves nicely to my interest about the generalizations and stereotypes that are created and perpetuated through the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women. This process of homogenization and essentialization may not occur intentionally but is closely tied to the theoretical and methodological frameworks that researchers apply when approaching work that involves marginalized groups with deeply rooted colonial, historical and cultural contexts. This project engages a postcolonial discourse analysis to examine the ways dominant discourse on violence against South Asian women operate, (re)produce social relations, hierarchies of knowledge, and reinforce colonial oppressions.

LITERATURE REVIEW

To analyze the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women through a postcolonial lens, it is imperative to consult the existing works of scholars from various disciplines within the social sciences. It is important to understand the ways that violence against South Asian women is conceptualized within the dominant discourse. The following review of the literature will highlight some of the most cited works about violence against South Asian women as gathered through a scoping review of prominent social sciences databases (ProQuest, JSTOR, Web of Science, and Google Scholar). It will also contextualize feminism and gendered violence through postcolonial literature to provide insight about how a postcolonial analysis can

provide depth to the existing discourse. Understanding the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women as well as postcolonial framings of culture, feminism, and violence will allow for a deeper understanding of my analysis to follow.

Violence Against South Asian Women

When beginning to read and analyze existing literature about violence against South Asian women, numerous articles with a focus on physical violence against women in India emerged (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Eswaran, & Malhotra, 2011; Jeyaseelan et al., 2007; Kalokhe et al., 2017; Rocca et al., 2008). All these articles employ quantitative research methods to measure the prevalence of physical violence and generate statistical data about the experiences of women who have experienced such violence. They use surveys to investigate potential precursors and protectors of domestic violence in India and other South Asian countries. These articles also focus their exploration of violence against women on married, heterosexual couples. Many of these articles discuss concepts such as shame and honour as well as cultural demands of women to be subservient and silent in their marriage (Jeyaseelan et al., 2007; Kalokhe et al., 2017; Rocca et al., 2008). Similarly, scholars such as Ahmed-Ghosh (2004), discuss the ways that domestic violence in India is perpetuated by patriarchy, family values, and tradition. Other scholars investigate the limitations of social and economic resources for women who face domestic violence in India (Rocca et al., 2008).

All of the aforementioned studies contend with the notion of violence against South Asian women stemming from an overly patriarchal culture. They investigate experiences of violence and try to understand the underlying causes by posing questions about family values and dynamics, knowledge of structural rules and legislation, and economic participation and

access to financial resources. Some scholars also investigate the variance in experiences of women in urban, rural, and slum areas or those who entered into a "love marriage" rather than an arranged marriage (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Eswaran, & Malhotra, 2011; Rocca et al., 2008). They also often explore the role of dowry payments in instances of marital violence (Eswaran, & Malhotra, 2011; Rocca et al., 2008).

Many researchers also suggest that the way to protect from experiences of violence are vocational programs and social groups for women in order to create employment and opportunities for financial independence as well as social groups to increase solidarity and sharing of experiences and support (Ali, Naylor, Croot & O'Cathain, 2015; Dalal & Lindqvist, 2012; Rani & Bonu, 2009; Sarkar, 2010). However, Rocca et al., (2008) concludes that women who are involved in vocational programs and social groups were found to be more likely to experience violence in their relationship. This contrast indicates that although many of the scholars who study violence against South Asian women discuss similar themes and elements, there is no 'one-size-fits-all' approach to mitigating and reducing violence because of its nuanced, complex nature. As much as a proposed solution like vocational programs and social groups may protect some women, it can simultaneously increase risk for others within the same demographic.

Other researchers (Alcoff, 2009; Nayak et al., 2003; Rani & Bonu, 2009) believe that the best way to understand an issue, such as violence against women, and formulate prevention strategies is to understand the attitudes towards the issue. Nayak et al. (2003) found that sociocultural factors such as politics, historical contexts, religion, economics, and attitudes towards gender roles played a significant role in both men's and women's perspective of violence against women among undergraduate students in India, Japan, Kuwait, and the United

States of America. They also commented on the ways that collectivist cultures (such as cultures found in India, Japan, and Kuwait) can inhibit access to care after experiencing violence because survivors are more likely to be worried about what their community members will think and say about them (Nayak et al., 2003).

Similarly, Rani and Bonu (2009) investigated health surveys from Armenia, Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Kazakhstan, Nepal, and Turkey to understand physical violence among married couples. They determined that in some cases younger respondents justified physical violence more often, and working women were equally or more likely to justify physical violence compared to nonworking women (Rani & Bonu, 2009). In both studies, and many others that investigate the issue of violence against women in a global context the findings are not very specific and represent a variety of viewpoints and experiences (Abrahams et al., 2014; Alcoff, 2009; Guruge, 2012; Palermo, Bleck & Peterman, 2014; Tran, Nguyen & Fisher, 2016). This is likely because they collected data from numerous vastly different countries, which is problematic and troublesome given the heterogeneity that exists across cultures, religions, and geographic locations.

The existing literature in the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women calls upon ideas and notions of culture, community, and tradition to describe the factors that contribute to experiences of violence. It names South Asian *culture* as patriarchal and dominant over women. These are examples of the ways in which patriarchy in the context of racialized nations in the global South is weaponized by Western scholars. Similar notions of patriarchy are at play in Western nations, yet through the "white gaze" of Western research and knowledge production, patriarchy is deemed more violent, oppressive, and dominant in South Asia than in the West. It also pinpoints traditional practices and cultural norms such as *arranged*

marriages and *dowry exchanges* as causes of violence and names communal or societal expectations as factors that keeps women in unsafe marriages.

Culture as Complicit of Violence

When trying to understand the ways that violence against South Asian women is constructed in the dominant discourse, understanding the role and the construction of culture is vital. Many of the authors mentioned above (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Jeyaseelan et al., 2007; Nayak et al., 2003; Rani & Bonu, 2009; Rocca et al., 2008) posit culture as a mechanism that contributes to violence against South Asian women through structures such as patriarchy, gender roles, traditional matrimonial practices, or inequitable economic opportunities. The notion of culture is frequently referenced in the literature and therefore it is important to contrast the way it is conceptualized in the dominant discourse with postcolonial understandings of culture and its production.

Authors such as Rastogi and Therly (2006) and Hackett (2011) discuss the transferring of assets to a groom's family in exchange for marrying a bride, commonly referred to as dowry exchanges, and the phenomena of "dowry deaths" as a culturally informed practice of violence against women. Rastogi and Therly (2006) conducted their analysis and discussed their findings using a psychological lens to determine the effectiveness of interventions for dowry-based violence in North America and the United Kingdom. The authors recognize sociocultural, religious, and economic factors to be important when considering a woman's ability to seek out support for dowry related violence (Hackett, 2011; Rastogi & Therly, 2006). However, they also describe these women as illiterate, devoted to religious ideals such as purity and chastity, and overall helplessness in decisions that pertain to their own lives (Rastogi & Therly, 2006). Hackett

(2011) examined Indian crime data related to domestic violence to determine that dowry deaths occur at higher rates in "underdeveloped" areas of the country.

Similarly, Ahmed, Reavey, and Majumdar (2009) investigate the ways that British South Asian women who are also survivors of sexual violence understand their culture's impact on their experiences of violence. The authors conducted qualitative interviews with eight women and concluded that the idea that culture is "problematic and unchangeable" was both accepted and challenged by participants. While some women resist cultural constructions that perpetuate experiences of violence, they also acknowledge that such cultural constructions exist to subjugate women (Ahmed, Reavey & Majumdar, 2009). In this study, the researchers also found that "culture" can act as a barrier to South Asian women seeking support for their experiences of sexual violence out of fear of discrimination or breaches of confidentiality within their shared cultural community (Ahmed, Reavey & Majumdar, 2009). Similar to other research (Fontes & McCloskey, 2011; Papp, 2009; Rani & Bonu, 2009) that presents South Asian women's experiences of violence, framing "culture" as a "barrier" as if it is one universal, static entity further homogenizes these women's experiences.

Many other studies that claim to represent national or regional perspectives of intimate partner violence in the South Asian subcontinent similarly contribute to such broad overgeneralized conclusions about South Asian culture (Ali, Naylor, Croot & O'Cathain, 2015; Dalal & Lindqvist, 2012; Fontes & McCloskey, 2011; Papp, 2009; Rani & Bonu, 2009). Dalal and Lindqvist (2012) explicitly suggest that a means of preventing domestic violence in India would be to eliminate the "structural inequalities inherent in the indigenous oppressive institutions of religion, caste and the traditional male hierarchy in society" (p. 265). Similarly, Rani and Bonu (2009) conclude that to reduce the prevalence of physical violence in South Asia,

both men and women need "liberation from the binding stereotypic norms" (p.1394). Ali, Naylor, Croot and O'Cathain (2015) also indicate that a "cultural tendency to view women as objects" and "a cultural acceptance of violence and silence" are contributing factors to intimate partner violence in Pakistan (p. 306). All of these scholars contribute to a discourse about South Asian people that tie them to an *oppressive, unchanging* culture which normalizes gendered violence. This type of discourse does not account for historical considerations which indicate that cis-heteropatriarchal hegemony was brought to the South Asian subcontinent by British colonizers and enforced through acts of violence to further colonial interests (Chitnis & Wright, 2007).

Key Concepts from Postcolonial Literature

To contrast and critique the literature that describes South Asian culture in these problematic ways, it is beneficial to draw upon the works of postcolonial scholars such as Bhabha (1994) and Razack (2003) to reconceptualize culture and the ways we discuss culture in literature. In his work *The Location of Culture*, Bhabha (1994) identifies the concepts of cultural hybridity and mimicry where he suggests that culture is not static or fixed to a single time or place but rather it is fluid and regularly transforms through interactions. Applying this perspective, culture can be viewed as something that cannot be grasped or studied as a static, unchanging entity. Bhabha (1994) explains that it is important to recognize that humans have created a system of cultural hierarchy. In this hierarchy, more value is assigned to cultures that wield greater power, which results in white, colonial nations imposing their cultural ideals onto their colonial subjects (Bhabha, 1994).

Bhabha's (1994) dismantling of culture through a postcolonial analysis in important to consider when conceptualizing the role of South Asian "culture" in violence against women. If the contemporary culture within South Asia cannot be grasped or studied, and the majority of our understanding of that culture has been shaped by the hegemony of white, colonial ideals; what exactly is being measured and studied? Is it possible to unearth a pre-colonial South Asian culture disrupts the dominant discourse, which suggests that there exists a measurable South Asian culture which can be studied and understood in order to prevent practices, traditions and ideologies that contribute to violence against South Asian women.

Razack (2003) asks who or what gives Western narratives about South Asian women authenticity, credibility, and power? In her article titled "A Violent Culture or Culturalized Violence?", Razack (2003) argues that researchers construct "orientalist fantasies" about the helplessness and dependence of South Asian women. Razack (2003) highlights the fact that it is important to discuss the violence that occurs in the South Asian community without placing the blame and responsibility on the "overly patriarchal culture". She posits that considering violence against South Asian women as emerging from culture is to reproduce racism (Razack, 2003). Her commentary on the construction of culture within the dominant discourse begins to draw attention to the relationship between culture, colonization, and violence against South Asian women through a postcolonial lens, which plays an important role in framing the following critical discourse analysis.

Additionally, as Loomba (1998) writes, a critical part of the mission of colonization was to gather and catalogue information about the peoples of the lands being colonized. This process of colonial knowledge production constructed the binary divide between colonial powers as "us"

and colonial subjects as "them". Colonial knowledge generation and research methods evolved to produce information which was used to justify the means of colonization and further subjugate people across South Asia (Loomba, 1998). Western knowledge production often prides itself on discovering objective truths and implementing methods which are free from ideology or bias, however many of these means of knowledge production are rooted in colonial, racist structures and ideologies which inherently posit whiteness as superior and Black and brownness as "barbaric", "wild", "backward", "savage" and overall worthy of colonial domination (Gould, 1996; Loomba, 1998; Stepan, 1982).

With much of the dominant discourse describing South Asian women in terms of lack, there is merit to considering the ways that feminism is understood in a South Asian, postcolonial context. In the ways that the dominant discourse highlights these women's lack of power and autonomy, South Asian feminism creates a space to highlight those exact things. South Asian feminism allows for the centring of women's voices, perspectives, and experiences alongside a dominant discourse about them that often excludes them.

Conceptualizing South Asian Feminism

Azim, Menon, and Siddiqui (2009) write about the importance of historical considerations when implementing or constructing a South Asian Feminist lens. They highlight important reflections about the positionality of women from the South Asian subcontinent and diaspora such as the colonial imposition of religious as well as linguistic divides that have created barriers to collective action (Azim, Menon & Siddiqui, 2009). This article serves as a toolkit to guide meaningful ways of connecting history, culture, and tradition from the South Asian subcontinent to the systems of power and oppression, which are inextricably connected to

colonialism. The authors also discuss the colonial construction of South Asia as a subcontinent and the arbitrary creation of borders to separate people (Azim, Menon & Siddiqui, 2009). Postcolonial scholars such as Azim, Menon, and Siddiqui (2009) disrupt the dominant discourse by revealing the deeply rooted colonial past that has forever changed the way that South Asian people exist and see themselves in the world. The colonial construction of the South Asian subcontinent and the nations within the subcontinent have direct implications on the way this region and people are understood in Eurocentric, Western academic spheres.

Mohanty (1984) also disrupts the dominant discourse about South Asian women as she deconstructs the production of the "Third World Woman" trope that has been imagined and asserted by Western feminist scholars. She articulates the ways that Western scholars often create distance between themselves and non-Western women by positing that *all* Third World Women are oppressed by patriarchal systems and male dominance while Western women are liberated and able to express themselves freely (Mohanty, 1984). The construction of the Third World Woman in combination with ideas of an oppressive South Asian culture in the dominant discourse contribute to perceptions of South Asian people as backward, uneducated, and barbaric (Mohanty, 1984).

In this essay, Mohanty (1984) provides an analysis of transnational feminist discourse, Western feminist scholarship, and demonstrates the Othering, essentializing and homogenizing that often takes place in literature about South Asian women. She discusses the problematic nature of universalism and the construction of shared struggle through shared womanhood (Mohanty, 1984). This analysis unravels the way that women are constructed as victims of male violence and the colonial process, dependents, subjugates of patriarchal family systems, and excluded from economic participation within the dominant Western discourse (Mohanty, 1984).

Her work highlights some of the ways that language is wielded against South Asian women in order to create a divide between Western women and Third World women. She also demonstrates the ways that Third World woman are often only included when broad generalizations are made in transnational feminist discourses about shared struggles and universal experiences of oppression and subjugation.

The works of Azim, Menon, and Siddiqui (2009) and Mohanty (1984) allow us to recognize the need to carve out a space intentionally for South Asian women in the discourse that is cognizant of colonial implications and historical considerations. They utilize a postcolonial lens in their analyses to centre the experiences of women whose perspectives and experiences are rarely showcased in the discourse using such considerations. The following section will highlight the discussion of gendered, colonial violence by postcolonial scholars in order to frame my following analysis of the contemporary, dominant discourse on violence against South Asian women.

Violence Through a Postcolonial Lens

Postcolonial scholars, such as Ganguly (2006), describes the ways that colonialism forever changed the ways that members of the South Asian subcontinent exist, operate, and understand themselves. She illustrates this in her work by highlighting that contemporary understandings of the Indian caste system are built based on exploitative, colonial research in which the British colonizers attempted to classify traditional Indian ways of being into categories based on white social orders (Ganguly, 2006). Since the British understood governance through systems of hierarchy, they imposed these ideas onto their colonial subjects and assumed that all

groups of people who they colonized across the globe existed in a similar way (Chitnis & Wright, 2007; Ganguly, 2006; Lau & Mendes, 2012).

As a result of colonial ethnographic research practices, the British deemed the Indian caste system to be a rigid classification system that determined a family's position in society and the social and economic outcomes they would experience as a result of their occupation and social standing (Ganguly, 2006). In actuality, caste in precolonial India was a fluid identity marker that served only as a tool which allowed individuals coexist in communities cohesively. The British used their problematic understanding of caste to tighten their control of land and justify their occupation of India. They determined that only higher castes could own land and deemed Indian society and their ways of being to be backwards and uncivilized (Chitnis & Wright, 2007; Ganguly, 2006; Lau & Mendes, 2012).

Additionally, Spivak (1988) incorporate notions of South Asian feminism into her work about gendered violence. Spivak (1988) writes about West vs. East and colonizer vs. colonized relations by elaborating on the power struggle between the elite and the subaltern in her influential essay, "Can the Subaltern Speak?". As described throughout the field of subaltern studies, the term subaltern refers to an oppressed Other who is often spoken for and stripped of autonomy within the colonial project (Lau & Mendes, 2012; Spivak, 1988). Spivak (1988) deconstructs Western knowledge production and unearths countless considerations to be made when thinking about the experiences of South Asian women through a postcolonial lens. Because subalterns operate and exist in ways that are often immeasurable through Western methodologies and incomprehensible through the white gaze, Western scholars fail in their mission to essentialize the subaltern experience (Spivak, 1988). This is significant because it indicates the divide between the issues that are highlighted in Western scholarship compared to the realities of

South Asian people and the things they identify as issues in their own lives. She questions how the third world subject can be studied without cooperation in and reinforcement of the colonial project by commenting on the imposed divisions by colonial powers on South Asian people such as gender, caste, class, region, religion, language etc. that play a vital role in isolating them from one another (Spivak, 1988).

Spivak (1988) describes the ways that the subaltern, those who are disenfranchised, marginalized, and neglected from society, are viewed as voiceless despite their continual acts of resistance and resilience. Those in power, often as a result of the colonial project, speak on behalf of the subaltern in order to further their own agenda (Spivak, 1988). To illustrate this, Spivak (1988), Loomba (1993) and Mani (1987) highlight the example of Sati, the ceremonial custom where a Hindu woman would burn herself to death on her husband's funeral pyre, in colonial India and the ways it has been discussed in the years following. British colonizers abolished the practice of Sati because they deemed it to be a "brutal" and "barbaric" custom created to enforce the Hindu patriarchy (Loomba, 1993; Mani, 1987; Spivak, 1988). Spivak identifies the British colonizers' ulterior motives for banning Sati as justifying the colonization of India because of such barbaric practices (Mani, 1987; Spivak, 1988). Sati allowed the British to claim that there was a need for a civilizing mission or as Spivak eloquently describes, "white men are saving brown women from brown men" (Spivak, 1988, p. 92). She identifies that rather than speak on behalf of the subaltern, we must "learn to learn" from the subaltern and create enabling conditions for the subaltern to speak for herself (Spivak, 1988).

In their article, Chatterji and Chaudhry (2014) explore the role of gendered violence in the nation forming of various countries in South Asia. They draw parallels between women's boundaries and borders by metaphorizing women as the bearers of national identity and

highlighting the ways that the process of state formation contributed to violence against women and systemic disenfranchisement (Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014). This is furthered by understandings of property and ownership that emerged at the time of nation building – illustrated by the Urdu proverb used to describe a man's most prized possessions "zan, zar, and zameen", meaning woman, gold, and land (Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014). The authors also described the ways that national honour and shame were attributed to women's bodies and women were often exchanged as goods after the partition of India and Pakistan (Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014). These practices play an integral role in the ways that women are seen and treated in contemporary times. In their work, Chatterji and Chaudhry (2014) contextualize the history of violence against South Asian women and demonstrate that many of the "cultural" and "traditional" practices associated with contemporary South Asia became prevalent after colonial involvement and influence. Patriarchal values, understandings of hierarchy, power, and control, as well as ideas of nationalism, ownership, and commodity were instilled by British colonizers and have been embedded into modern ways of life (Chatterji & Chaudhry, 2014).

The following critical discourse analysis will implement tenets of postcolonial theory to complement the work of postcolonial scholars who have discussed violence against South Asian women. This discourse analysis aims to demonstrate the ways that Western ideologies, constructions, and research methods continue to uphold and reinforce the colonial project. Much of the literature showcased in this review indicates that feelings of shame and honour, family values, and tradition demand women to be subservient, silent, and economically dependent in their marriage (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Eswaran, & Malhotra, 2011; Jeyaseelan et al., 2007; Kalokhe et al., 2017; Rocca et al., 2008). The dominant discourse does not account for the

historical legacy of colonialism and could benefit from the application of a postcolonial lens to unearth the colonial technologies at work to uphold systems of oppression and subjugation in the lives of South Asian women. As a result, this discourse analysis aims to provide crucial insight into the experiences and perspectives which are not represented through the Western academic dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women.

METHODOLOGY

Postcolonial theory conceptualizes discourse as "ways of constituting knowledge, together with the social practices, forms of subjectivity and power relations which inhere in such knowledges and the relations between them" (Weedon, 1997, p. 105). This encompasses and refers to "knowledge" as both scholarly and non-scholarly knowledge, including intellectual, cultural, economic, political, etc. (Prasad, 2003). Therefore, the term "discourse" in postcolonial theory points to the ways that intellectual, social, cultural, political, and economic structures seeks to (re)produce and perpetuate relations of colonialism and neocolonialism (Loomba, 1998; Prasad, 2003). While considering this understanding of discourse, I chose specifically to focus on the intellectual production of knowledge by analyzing the production of discourse via academic journal articles. My analysis, however, will address the social, cultural, political, and economic implications of this discourse.

Using postcolonial theory to frame my research has important implications for both data collection and data analysis. When seeking out data, I will be looking for literature that utilizes positivistic, colonial research methodologies, such as standardized surveys or ethnographic interviews, and is published within academic journals. By narrowing my data collection to gather articles that implement Western modalities and prioritize Western methods of knowledge

dissemination, I will be able to analyse and discuss the ways that a postcolonial lens would strengthen and deepen the output of these studies. I will be reading for the ways that this literature recreates power imbalances, reinforces stereotypes and contributes to the homogenization and essentialism of South Asian women. My analysis will be guided by the works of scholars such as Said (1978), Spivak (1999), and Bhabha (1994) who use the principles of postcolonial theory to comment on and critique contemporary issues. These scholars have named phenomena such as Orientalism, hybridity, mimicry, and subaltern subordination that capture the essence of a postcolonial analysis and serve as useful tools for my research. I will be searching for aspects of South Asian women's experiences that are left out of the literature or that might not consider historical and cultural complexities. My analysis will also question who the intended audience of this literature is because reproducing data for white, Western audiences often fails to accurately represent the nuanced realities and only furthers harm.

By using the works of Said (1978), Bhabha (1994), and Spivak (1999) as well as the tenets of postcolonial theory as the foundation of my ontological and epistemological positioning, I am able to draw on the notions of Orientalism, hybridity, mimicry, and subaltern subordination in my analysis of violence against South Asian women. Much of the dominant discourse on this topic places blame and responsibility of violence on cultural practices, societal pressures and ultimately on women. This occurs most often because a great deal of South Asian history has been erased or suppressed through colonization, making it nearly impossible to understand such issues by only discussing the ways these cultural practices exist and operate in a contemporary context. The danger of focusing solely on contemporary contexts is the inevitability of further erasing the history and nuance that is associated with those cultural practices as well as the purposes that they serve. Contributing to discourse in such a way only

serves to further subjugate the experiences of the subaltern, in this case the South Asian woman. We should rather be thinking about the ways that South Asian women exist in the world and the legacies of tradition, culture, history, and trauma they carry. Centering their stories and creating methods of sharing and understanding that do not constantly compare their experiences to white, cis-hetero, patriarchal norms.

METHODS

To conduct a postcolonial critical discourse analysis which discusses and analyses a broad range of relevant, contemporary literature about violence against South Asian women, I began by using the protocols of a scoping review as outlined by Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) (Tricco et al., 2018). It is important to recognize that postcolonial discourse analyses do not have one prescribed method for data collection or determining the dominant discourse. I have chosen to implement the positivist scoping review method in an attempt to capture the literature which is more often deemed "factual", and "accurate" on account of its existence within academic, peer reviewed journals. Conducting a scoping review allowed me to capture the discourse which is most referenced in academia in order to trouble the notion of meritocracy within knowledge production.

Following PRISMA protocols, I conducted detailed searches of four prominent social science databases (ProQuest, JSTOR, Web of Science, and Google Scholar) using the search terms ("South Asia*" OR India* OR Pakistan* OR Bangladesh* OR Sri Lanka*) AND (Women OR woman OR female OR gender) AND ("Violence Against Women" OR "Intimate Partner Violence" OR "Domestic Violence" OR "Sexual Violence" OR "Gender Based Violence" OR abuse). I limited the search results to peer reviewed articles published in academic journals

between the years 2009 – 2019 and only included the results that had been cited by other scholars more than 20 times. This inclusion criteria allowed me to gather the most current and most referenced data which should be indicative of the contemporary dominant discourse. These searches across the four databases yielded 170 articles which was reduced to 150 when duplicates were removed and reduced again to 90 articles when abstracts were read for relevance. Of these 90 articles, 15 articles that discussed violence against women in a global context or focused on various regions or countries in South Asia were used in the literature review section as those were the often the most cited works about violence against South Asian women.

The remaining 75 articles (listed in Appendix A) were read and analysed using a postcolonial lens by asking questions such as "how does this text explicitly or implicitly discuss aspects or implications of colonial oppression?", "what does this text reveal about the complex relationship between personal and cultural identity such as hybridity and mimicry?", "who does this text identify as the 'Other' and how are they described?", "is this text making generalizations or assumptions about South Asian women?" and "who is benefitting from the output of this text and its conclusions?" My analysis of these articles was mainly focused on the discussion and conclusion sections of these articles because they contained the authors' findings, analyses, and reflections in their own words. This was an important step in assessing the state of contemporary literature. By asking these questions of the texts and reading these articles intentionally, several themes emerged which will be discussed and deconstructed in the following sections of this project.

ANALYSIS OF FINDINGS

Throughout the process of reading, asking the aforementioned questions, and applying a postcolonial analytical lens to the texts from the dominant discourse, it became evident to me that authors who discuss violence against South Asian women describe a wide variety of experiences such as dowry, sati, physical violence, sexual violence, emotional violence, violence from members of the extended family, societal gender roles and community expectations. They identify numerous behaviours, situations, and experiences, such as those mentioned above, as violent, and oppressive towards South Asian women. As a reader, it is easy to infer that the dominant discourse indicates the existence depth and diversity of these women's experiences of violence given the variety of experiences discussed. However, upon reading these works, there are many ways in which their experiences are siloed by seemingly arbitrary parameters.

This can be seen in the way that the dominant discourse almost exclusively discusses the experiences of South Asian women who are married. The dominant discourse frames violence as an experience which only occurs after a woman is married to a man who is either violent himself or who comes from a violent family (Babu & Kar, 2009; Babu & Kar, 2010; Kimuna, Djamba, Ciciurkaite & Cherukuri, 2013; Krishnan et al., 2012; Rahman, Nakamura, Seino & Kizuki, 2013; Sarkar, 2010; Sayem, Begum & Moneesha, 2012). This narrow viewpoint also frames literature within the discourse which discusses dowry exchanges, the practice of sati, honour killings, violence from extended family members, and gender roles as if these practices do not impact women outside of marriages. Some scholars justify this narrow focus by saying:

... men culturally possess women; that manhood is associated with violence and that violence is widely accepted as a form of behavior. Husbands justify this act that they

have all rights to beat his wife. And, it is told to the girl before marriage that she should adjust to whatever happens after marriage (Sarkar, 2010 p. 315).

Similarly, other scholars attribute their specific focus on married women to the notion that South Asian women get married young. Rahman, Nakamura, Seinoc and Kizuki (2013 p. 10) describe this assumption by saying, "early marriage may perpetuate an unequal society, increasing female vulnerability, powerlessness, and assetlessness, as well as restricting personal, educational, and psychological development and having hazardous health effects."

Additionally, the findings and conclusions of much of the dominant discourse are oversimplified and inferiorizing because they almost exclusively rely on positivistic, colonial research methods such as statistical surveys or exploratory, ethnographic interviews. Such practices and methods of knowledge production are built on models which were created and implemented to subjugate and oppress colonial subjects and racialized peoples in the Global South and are therefore acting as evolved mechanisms of the same colonial technologies (Gould, 1996; Loomba, 1998; Stepan, 1982). Because these methods are implemented in the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women, it serves to uphold the colonial project and frame the experiences and understandings of these women in opposition to the Western woman.

The dominant discourse also frequently discusses the notion of *empowerment* as a solution or response for South Asian women who have experienced violence. Oftentimes this type of empowerment is suggested through the creation and implementation of programs which promote increased educational attainment and/or economic participation from South Asian women (Boyle, Georgiades, Cullen & Racine, 2009; Krishnan et al., 2012; Rahman, Hoque & Makinoda, 2011; Simister & Mehta, 2010). Much of the dominant discourse proposes that "empowering" South Asian women through education or economics either intentionally or

inadvertently place the blame of violence on these women for not being educated enough, independent enough or contributing to their household enough. Pandey, Dutt, and Banerjee (2009 p. 1183) suggest that, "providing some kind of vocational training to both men and women will not only augment the family income, but it also will have a salutary effect on domestic violence by its economic empowerment of women." Other scholars such as Sabri, Renner, Stockman, Mittal, and Decker (2014 p. 296) determine that, "it is necessary to empower victims to reduce their dependence on dangerous abusive partners through education and employment opportunities." This is another example of the ways in which South Asian women are constantly measured against Western women in a binary comparison. The dominant discourse sends the message that if a woman is not formally educated or financially independent in the ways that are the norms for a Western woman, her experiences of violence can be justified and explained as a consequence of her inadequacy. The notion of empowerment also suggests that South Asian women require Western intervention in order to be *enlightened* and taught how to *better themselves* through channels such as education and workforce participation.

Another colonial ideology that is frequently found within this dominant discourse is the fascination with "understanding" and "defining" experiences of violence in South Asia. This is prevalent in articles that strive to highlight the ways that South Asian violence against women is different or more aggressive than other regions or cultures (Kalokhe et al., 2015). This can also be seen when authors aim to discuss the determinants of violence against women in South Asia or specific traditions and practices such as arranged marriages, dowry exchanges, sati, honour killings, or sex selective pregnancies (Babu & Kar, 2010; Das et al., 2013; Mahapatro, R. N. Gupta & V. Gupta, 2012; Mahapatro, R. N. Gupta, V. Gupta & Kundu, 2011; Rahman, Nakamura, Seino & Kizuki, 2013). Within the dominant discourse, such topics are discussed

solely from a Western, colonial perspective where South Asian people are positioned as "backward", "barbaric", and "violent" for partaking in such traditions or behaviours. These topics are all approached through the white gaze and employ imagery and language which suggest the need for Western, "civilized" intervention in order to "save" and "protect" these women from their "patriarchal", "oppressive" culture.

A postcolonial discourse analysis accounts for the subjective nature of researcher positionality during the analysis of the dominant discourse. My discussion in the following section will highlight overarching themes which arose from my analysis while I was employing a postcolonial lens to these articles and are inherently informed by my lived experiences and worldview. I found that within this dominant discourse, many of the authors were citing each other and contributing to an echo chamber of sorts which allowed for distinct and reoccurring themes to become evident. Across the 75 articles that were analyzed for the purpose of this discourse analysis, I found four main themes which emerged very quickly and consistently throughout my analysis of the dominant discourse on violence against South Asian women. The first theme is the use of colonial research methods to capture the experiences of people whose ways of knowing and being are rooted in histories and realities which cannot be measured through standardized tools. The next significant theme is the construction of a monolithic South Asia through the homogenization of experiences and the framing of a very stagnant South Asian "culture". Another notable theme is the perpetuation of colonial capitalism veiled in neoliberal ideologies of economic participation, worth and possibility. Additionally, an essential theme in understanding the relevance of this project is the production of the "Third World Woman" as inherently lesser than the Western woman through the ideals of white feminism (Mohanty,

1984). Every article which was analyzed for this project demonstrated at least one of these themes and countless articles contributed to all these themes.

DISCUSSION

Colonial Research Methods

Many of the articles analyzed for the purpose of this discourse analysis utilized a standardized survey to gather data about violence against South Asian women. Several researchers utilize surveys such as the National Family Health Survey and the Demographic and Health Survey which pose general questions with standardized answers about experiences of gender-based violence and abuse among South Asian women. Upon investigating the structure and implementation of such standardized surveys, I came to realize that they were created, distributed and carried out using the guidelines outlined by the United Nations (UN) in their report titled "Guidelines for Producing Statistics on Violence against Women – Statistical Surveys" (Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2014). This report clearly places hegemonic value on the UN's "universal" definition of violence against women as well as their method quantifying such experiences for the purpose of comparing and contrasting global data.

The issue lies in the fact that organizations contracted by the UN around the world set out on missions to quantify and capture generalizable "facts" about violence against women. Follingstad (2017) articulates the numerous problematic assumptions that are involved in the process of collecting statistical data and using surveying tools on such a topic. There are many inherent assumptions in global or large scale surveys, a few of which she highlights are: that most people agree on what violence and abuse are, that the existence of abuse and violence can be measured and documented, that self-reporting is appropriate, adequate and accurate, and that

the same methodologies can be employed regardless of a person's race, sexuality, class, etc. (Follingstad, 2017). Research on violence against women has primarily been structured to measure the experiences of white women and the use of the same methodologies on non-white communities has countless flaws and harmful implications, as will be further discussed in the sections to follow.

I decided to take a specific look at the National Family Health Survey because it is referenced as the main data source for numerous articles that aim to discuss intimate partner violence in India and was cited frequently throughout the dominant discourse to measure "improvements" over years or compare and contrast statistics across geographic regions. It consists of four main surveys (Biomarker, Household, Men's, and Women's) which aim to measure various aspects of health and wellbeing (*National Family Health Survey*, n.d.). The women's survey is the longest of the four with almost 1000 questions in total. A few sections overlap between the men's and women's surveys, but only women are asked about their children's health, nutrition, immunization, pregnancy, postnatal care, and "household relations" (the section where they ask about domestic violence and abuse) (*National Family Health Survey*, n.d.). Rather than being asked questions from any of these categories, men are only asked about their attitudes towards gender roles. The structure of these surveys as well as the categories assigned to each gender indicates a clear disparity in data collection.

As a result of the five additional survey sections that women are asked, the ethics of this survey is worth questioning. Women are only asked about their "household relations" or any questions relating to experiences of abuse and violence after already answering over 800 questions about their children, pregnancy, menstruation, decision to implement family planning, birth control or have an abortion as well as their access to health care before, during and after

their pregnancy. With such a line of intense, invasive questioning, it is likely that the women participating in these surveys experience emotional exhaustion, fatigue, or burnout from sharing such vulnerable details of their lives with a stranger for the purpose of data collection.

Similarly, there are other methodological, recruitment, and interviewing techniques that indicate the inappropriate and potentially harmful nature of this surveying process. An example of this is the element of collectivism and communal sharing of spaces which is extremely common in South Asia in countries, such as India, with high population densities. The reality of joint families, shared housing, and smaller living spaces increases the likelihood that women were not alone or in a private setting during the time of the survey. Additionally, the survey is created in English and translated into native languages by interviewers. This allows for the possibility of misinterpretation and miscommunication as well as inconsistencies in translation depending on the capabilities of the interviewer (Khan et al., 2007). This survey also only asks married women between the ages of 15-49 about their experiences with sexual relationships, birth control or family planning, pregnancy, or experiences of violence and abuse. It completely neglects the experience of women who may have these experiences who are unmarried, separated, divorced, or widowed and who are outside of their desired age range. For a survey that claims to represent the experiences of individuals and families across India, these are only a few of the gaps and considerations which make its findings impossible to generalize.

Congruently, the ways that authors select aspects of the survey to analyze also perpetuates colonial technologies in the dominant discourse. Some of the ways they do this is by fixating their analysis on the specific regions within a given country such as urban, rural or slum areas. Similarly, some authors choose to focus their analysis on a specific caste, gender, age group, or religious group within a given geographic area. As I will deconstruct further in the

following section of my analysis, such divides do not imply homogeneity within the group and such groupings only serve to erase and disregard numerous aspects of these individuals' identities as well as historical contexts which make their experiences unique (Khan et al., 2007; Ozkazanc-Pan, 2012). Many of the scholars who analyze the findings of surveys such as the National Family Health Survey contribute to the same colonial project by using these methods to paint South Asia as a homogenous group that can be studied, measured, and understood by outsiders. Practices such as searching for "statistical significance" and citing literature that supports your own conclusions are commonplace in Eurocentric, Western research methods.

Based on my analysis of the contemporary dominant discourse, there are only a handful of authors whose work is being showcased and cited in the discourse. The same scholars often cite one another in their work and often build upon each other's analysis of the same surveys. By doing this, not only are these scholars using limited, narrow, colonial research methods for their analysis, they are only amplifying the voices and works of scholars who are doing the same. These methods are used to infer conclusions about South Asian women by citing other authors that have made similar conclusions and perpetuate tropes and stereotypes which identify South Asian culture as the scapegoat for violence. Many researchers are trained to utilize such practices to validate their findings and justify the conclusions they are drawing in their work. Research methods that are not actively anti-colonial in nature inherently contribute to the colonial project in the ways that they gather data, conduct analysis, and conclude their findings. Without an integration of perspectives and methods that uplift the voices and experiences of South Asian survivors of violence, the dominant discourse creates an echo chamber for scholars to recycle the same generalized conclusions about this demographic without critical thought.

Many postcolonial scholars highlight the ways that Western, Eurocentric means of knowledge production suppress and marginalize ways of knowing and being that are indigenous to the people and the lands being studied (Chilisa, 2005; Loomba, 1998; Said, 1978). Audre Lorde's (1984) famous saying, "for the master's tools will never dismantle the master's house" holds true for the work of scholars who are contributing to this dominant discourse. Through utilizing colonial research methods, colonialism is being upheld through these studies and research is only benefitting oppressive institutions, such as the UN, by allowing for continued the surveillance, regulation, and classification of brown bodies in South Asia. The dominant discourse and its use of such methods as well as its reproduction and repackaging of colonial knowledge systems speaks on behalf of South Asian women about their experiences of violence.

Monolithic South Asia

Another consistent theme throughout the dominant discourse is the construction of a monolithic, homogenous South Asia. In order to begin dissecting this notion, it is crucial to investigate historiographic accounts of colonization and recognize the diversity of the people in the land that makes up the South Asian subcontinent. Western colonialism and imperialism have a long history, involving European and American exerting power and control over a variety of different peoples, cultures, and regions (Prasad, 2003). While this implies the heterogeneity of those impacted by colonialism, Young (2001) contests that, as far as the colonized peoples were concerned, the consequences of colonial practices were largely the same; the attempted domination and subjugation of the colonized. After gaining independence from British colonial rule in 1947, it was evident that India's developments was left distorted and the social, political, and economic problems, such as mass poverty and religious and caste conflict, could be blamed

on the pervasiveness of colonialism (Chakrabarty, 2000). There was a desire to produce an "Indian people" and mobilize them in their united struggle against the British (Chandra, 1979). Although this shared struggle is significant and the ideas of nationalism which emerged as a result of independence is prominent, there remained no unitary "nation" to speak for (Guha, 1982).

Precolonial India was made up of hundreds of coexisting communities, each with their own ethnicities, languages, religions, castes etc. (Kavira, 1994). This plurality that cannot be packaged into a singular, monolithic, or archetype despite British accounts of colonial history striving to do so. Much of the Eurocentric whitewashing of precolonial Indian history was led by British historians in the Cambridge School of historiography who described the land and the people as "underdeveloped", "backward", "barbaric" and worked to delegitimize older narratives of these communities (Mantena, 2007; Shukla, 2001). Orientalism, Eurocentrism and similar colonial technologies are upheld and reproduced throughout the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women, predominantly in the ways that the experiences of these women are stripped of their heterogeneity and tied to notions of a violent South Asian "culture".

Within the articles which were analyzed for the purpose of this project, a majority of scholars describe South Asian "culture" as patriarchal, stagnant, and contingent on male dominance and female submission. These descriptions paint the picture that South Asia and its people have carry these cultural ideologies and traditions which are deeply rooted in South Asian ways of being. However, the postcolonial feminist scholars describe that many of the precolonial communities in South Asia were in fact matriarchal societies and even those that were led by men placed great value on the women in their lives (McEwan, 2001; Mody, 2017;

Patil, 1973). Defining South Asian culture as violently patriarchal is harmful because it implies that South Asia has one uniform culture and that women are regarded with little to no respect or reverence in these cultures, when both are historically inaccurate when there exist communities in South India which remain matriarchal (Ehrenfels, 1953; Patil, 1973).

The danger of drawing large-scale generalizations is equally as significant as homogenizing the experiences of narrower demographics. In both circumstances, the experiences and realities of many are lost or overshadowed in an attempt to showcase only the experiences that can be viewed as shared within the demographic and can be broadly generalizable. In doing this, the experiences of some are portrayed as the experiences of many which only further perpetuates the colonial project by erasing the inherent nuances and heterogeneity. Some of the articles that were analyzed for this project used language such as, "[domestic violence] might be related to the fact that men culturally possess women; that manhood is associated with violence and that violence is widely accepted as a form of behavior" (Sarkar, 2010, p. 315). Similarly, Babu and Kar (2010, p. 136) describe that the "widespread prevalence of domestic violence is a reflection of deep-rooted gender inequalities that persist across India."

It is important to recognize the ways that colonization has fabricated narratives about South Asian culture and people and the ways these narratives are being carried forward and reproduced in the contemporary discourse. Césaire (1972) highlights the way that colonizers consciously frame the colonized as barbaric in order to absolve themselves and legitimize their violence. He describes colonial conquests and the dehumanization of the colonial subject as a "boomerang effect" (p. 41) which actually indicate the lack on humanity among the colonizer (Césaire, 1972). In their efforts to dehumanizing the Other, colonizers are avoiding the ways they themselves lack civility, demonstrate violence, and embody the characteristics they

reserve for the colonized. Western scholars contribute to a discourse that frames South Asia as a backward, patriarchal, violent, monolithic society before they use the same frame of reference to discuss the thousands of Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (MMIW) on the land they occupy. The colonial project is upheld so long as Western knowledge producers focus on the barbaric, backwards, uncivilized ways of being in the colonized East and continue to hold themselves as the pinnacle of good, just, and fair society.

Neoliberalism & Colonial Capitalism

Postcolonial scholars identify unique characteristics modern Western colonialism, namely the ways that Western colonial nations were economically involved in the nations they colonized (Loomba, 1998; Prasad, 2003; Young, 2001). Not only did they extract wealth from the peoples and lands which they conquered, they also maintained a complex structure of unequal exchange that made the colonies economically dependent upon the Western colonial nations (Prasad, 2003). This economic imbalance created by modern Western colonialism served as a means to justify the subjugation of these lands and incentivised colonization within the realm of culture and ideology as well (Loomba, 1998; Prasad, 2003). From this intricate system of oppression, ideologies of modernity and colonial capitalism emerge.

In the dominant discourse, economic prosperity, employment, and financial independence are frequently described as a way out of violent situations for South Asian women. The literature often proposes the creation of economic opportunities, microcredit or micro loaning systems, and other means of acquiring an income as solutions to both prevent and respond to violence against women. These propositions often encourage women to gain employment so that they could "contribute to the household" and gain respect and independence from their husband (Fisher,

2010; Jayasuriya, Wijewardena & Axemo, 2011; Krishnan, et al., 2012; Rahman, Hoque & Makinoda, 2011; Sayem, Begum & Moneesha, 2012) These articles indicate that women are only worthy of safety, security, and a relationship without violence if they are financially contributing to the economy and their household.

Similarly, the dominant discourse describes the ways that South Asian "culture" commodifies women through the practice of dowry exchanges. Dowries are explained as a means for a woman's family to lessen their "financial burden" (Fisher, 2010) and for a woman to "cover her expenses" in her new marital family (Kalokhe, et al., 2015). Women's existence within marriages are frequently described in a transactional manner which imply that her submission, subservience, and silence is bought for the price of the dowry. In reality, dowry exchanges have historically existed as a means to provide women with their inherited share of their parental estate upon marriage and provide a financial foundation for her new life with her husband (Harrell & Dickey, 1985). Only showcasing data that compares women to property which can be bought and owned furthers the narrative that they are worthy of safety, protection, and personhood when they are participating in the economy and contributing to household finances.

The notion of economic opportunity as a way out of violence has led to many proposed and implemented microcredit and micro lending programs across South Asia. Scholars such as Sayem, Begum, and Moneesha (2012) suggest microcredit lending programs as a solution to domestic violence because it economic participation would allegedly shift women from "housewives to self-sufficient women, and from passive family members to active ones" (p. 658). A number of scholars (Elahi & Danopoulos, 2004; Levin, 2012; Wichterich, 2017) have examined and critiqued microcredit programs and their implementation in South Asia as a means

of alleviating poverty. Although many scholars within the dominant discourse posit that economic independence via microcredit programs is a way for women to prevent and escape violence, such programs have proven to fail and cause significant damage. Microcredit institutions are largely unregulated and are prone to approving exploitative loans with significantly high interest rates (Levin, 2012). Suggesting that microcredit lending programs are a solution to violence against women in South Asia both perpetuates the idea that women's worth is inherently tied to capitalism and justifies violence against women who do not contribute financially to their household.

As a result of colonial capitalist and neoliberal logics, ideologies of modernity, development and "progress" anchor the continued exploitation of women and rural workers. When worthiness is tied to workforce participation and economic involvement is prioritized above all else, the increased divide between classes contributes to what Walker (2008) refers to as internal colonization. Internal colonization is the materialization and reproduction of colonial technologies of subjugation (Walker, 2008). By placing hegemonic value on participation and "progress", the class struggle is intensified. This contributes to the creation and implementation of colonial ideologies and policies which further oppress those precarious workers, rural farmers, women, and members of specific castes (Walker, 2008). The idea of women's independence and liberation being tied to employment and financial independence stems from white, Western feminist logics. When those same notions are applied to women in South Asia and in the Third World, they contribute to structures that uphold the colonial project.

The Third World Woman & White Feminism

As demonstrated above, off of the aforementioned themes can be tied to the ways in which the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women construct the "Third World Woman" and perpetuate the ideals of white Western feminism. It is important to conceptualize the terminology "Third World Woman" through a critical lens and my use of it stems from Mohanty's (1984) work where she identifies the necessity of carving out a space in the discourse for women who occupy spaces outside of the Western world. Western feminist discourses often take up womanhood by discussing women as an oppressed group (Mohanty, 1984). However, because this is primarily situated in the context of white womanhood, discussions of women's experiences outside of the West are often rooted in colonialism. Mohanty (1984) pinpoints the ways in which white feminism constructs their ideologies on the basis of cohesion and shared struggle against patriarchal systems but simultaneously situates Third World women outside of these boundaries and therefore not progressive enough to share in the fight.

The dominant discourse is littered with this "us" versus "them" imagery where Third World women are described only in terms of lack. These descriptions imply that the standard of freedom, liberation, and independence – the hallmarks of white feminism – should be the goal for South Asian women and their current distance from these goals indicate their personal shortcomings. Almost every single article that was evaluated for this discourse analysis concluded that education, or lack thereof, was a contributing factor to women's experiences of violence. South Asian women are also often described as "illiterate", "passive", "submissive", "sexually oppressed", and "traditional" in the discourse. Mohanty (1984) perfectly describes this process as the continued underdevelopment of the third world in which:

[...] third world women as a group or category are automatically and necessarily defined as: religious (read "not progressive"), family-oriented (read "traditional"), legal minors (read "they-are-still-not-conscious-of-their-rights"), illiterate (read "ignorant"), domestic (read "backward") and sometimes revolutionary (read "their-country-is-in-a-state-of-warthey- must-fight!"). This is how the "third world difference" is produced (p. 352).

Positioning South Asian women as illiterate and helpless, and framing an entire geographical regions as "underdeveloped" are examples of the ways that scholars often essentialize South Asian women, draw conclusions based on their ways of knowing and being, and therefore contribute to a narrative which deems South Asian norms, cultural practices, and traditions as the contributors and perpetrators of violence. These are examples of the way that research and discourse can contribute to the colonial project of "progress" and "enlightenment". By positioning white women and the ideals of white feminism as the standard to which all women should strive, the dominant discourse homogenizes Third World women as the Other whose experiences are primitive and uncivilized.

In her book *Desire for Development: Whiteness, Gender and the Helping Imperative,* Barbra Heron (2007) writes about the way that the Third World is constructed as a place of suffering, starvation and bloodshed which requires Western involvement to be saved from itself. This takes place alongside a fascination and exoticism of the Other through their cuisine, clothing, and culture (Heron, 2007). She describes process of Western women's empowerment through the rise of white feminism where white bourgeois women were seen as respectable, autonomous, and self-sustaining (Heron, 2007). This paved the way for these women, empowered by evangelicalism and the church, to "help" the poor, the working class, and enslaved peoples (Heron, 2007). To incentivise development work among wealthy white women, a discourse was created where their interventions in the Third World was romanticized as missions of caring, saving, and being transformed by the Other (Heron, 2007).

In order for the industry of development work to exist, there must exist a discourse of the lesser, backward, oppressed Third World that is in need of saving by white "helpers". This problematic development discourse overlaps and intertwines itself within the discourse of violence against South Asian women. In both discourses, the Third World Woman is described as incapable of saving herself, as a victim of the oppressive structures of the Third World, and as lacking the resources to succeed. South Asian women are describes as being confined by the violent patriarchy, forced to perform household chores and care for children, and deprived of economic independence. Cultural practices such as dowry exchanges are depicted as a mechanism to reduce women to the status of property which can be bought and sold without her consent. All of these are examples of the ways which discourse creates a narrative that encourages colonial involvement under the guise of development and saviourism.

CONCLUSION

This critical discourse analysis utilized the tenets of postcolonial theory to investigate the ways that the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women upholds colonial technologies. Although there are numerous ways that such technologies appear and are maintained throughout the discourse, the most prevalent and reoccurring themes were the use of colonial research methods, the construction of a monolithic South Asia, the pervasiveness of neoliberalism and colonial capitalism, and the dichotomy of the Third World Woman and white feminism. These findings indicate that Western academic literature and "accredited" sources of knowledge production are heavily entrenched in colonial ideologies and can have harmful

outcomes for South Asian women if used to influence the creation and implementation of policies and practices both internationally and domestically.

The implications of these findings for the field of social work are significant at every level. On an individual level, it is important for social workers, namely those intentionally providing services for South Asian women and cultural groups, to understand their implicit biases about this demographic. How are your understandings of South Asian women crafted? Do they account for the plurality and complexity of their experiences rather than perpetuate generalizations and assumptions about their culture, religion, traditions etc.? On a broader level, we must challenge Western knowledge production and the ways in which it carries forward colonialism. This includes questioning who is conducting research about South Asian people and the methods and theories they are utilizing in their work. Are they doing research *about* South Asian women or *with* South Asian women? Research is often used to inform policies and practices within the field of social work, so we must remain critical of this production of knowledge and ensure that it accounts for the appropriate historical, social, and cultural factors.

Although this project primarily highlights the flaws and problematics of the dominant discourse about violence against South Asian women, it is equally as important to uplift the discourse of postcolonial scholars who discuss the experiences of individuals in South Asia while remaining cognizant of the implications and remnants of colonization. We must also be weary of studies which conclude by calling for more colonial research on the subject. We must seek out research that is aware of its ontological and epistemological implications, political positioning, and ethical obligations. These methods will create a bigger space for a discourse which is critical of the white gaze and works against colonial technologies and the Western cis-heteropatriarchy.

The primary limitation of this study is that significant amounts of indigenous knowledge, teachings, and ways of being have been stripped from South Asian people through the process of colonization. As a result, these Western, colonial understandings of South Asia and South Asian people have been imposed on us for centuries and in many ways have been internalized in the ways we understand ourselves and exist in the world. It is therefore challenging to conceptualize a way in which South Asian people can exist in ways that are intuitive and regain autonomy outside of colonial structures. I intentionally and purposefully choose not to offer alternative ways to respond to violence against South Asian women because I believe that the answer does not lie within academic texts nor do I believe that I hold the solution. As a collectivist society, South Asian peoples are equipped with centuries worth of knowledge and traditions that emphasize community care and support for those who have been harmed and those who cause harm.

South Asian ways of being and knowing are deeply complex, tied to culture, language, religion, and can only be conceptualized in an anti-colonial framework. It is imperative to acknowledge and account for the destruction and erasure that was colonization. As a result of this history, there is no one way to discuss violence against South Asian women or their ways of being and knowing. Colonial research methods and tools cannot describe or encapsulate the complexities of something so intuitive such as these ways of being and knowing as well as intergenerational knowledge. In the dominant discourse, women are regarded as the keepers of familial honour, purity, and pride. In reality, South Asian women are more adequately knowledge keepers, teachers, and caregivers.

APPENDIX A

- 1. Ahmad, F., Driver, N., McNally, M. J., & Stewart, D. E. (2009). 'Why doesn't she seek help for partner abuse?' An exploratory study with South Asian immigrant women. *Social Science & Medicine*, 69(4), 613–622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.06.011
- Ahmad, F., Rai, N., Petrovic, B., Erickson, P. E., & Stewart, D. E. (2013). Resilience and Resources Among South Asian Immigrant Women as Survivors of Partner Violence. *Journal* of Immigrant and Minority Health, 15(6), 1057–1064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9836-2</u>
- Allendorf, K. (2012). Women's Agency and the Quality of Family Relationships in India. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 31(2), 187–206. Business Premium Collection; International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Politics Collection; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-012-9228-7</u>
- Allendorf, K. (2013). Going Nuclear? Family Structure and Young Women's Health in India, 1992-2006. *Demography*, 50(3), 853–880. Business Premium Collection; International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-012-0173-1</u>
- Ali, P. A., Naylor, P. B., Croot, E., & O'Cathain, A. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence in Pakistan: A systematic review. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, 16(3), 299–315. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/26638361</u>
- 6. Ali, T. S., Krantz, G., Gul, R., Asad, N., Johansson, E., & Mogren, I. (2011). Gender roles and their influence on life prospects for women in urban Karachi, Pakistan: A qualitative study. *Global Health Action*, *4*, 7448. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v4i0.7448</u>
- Ali, T. S., Mogren, I., & Krantz, G. (2013). Intimate Partner Violence and Mental Health Effects: A Population-Based Study among Married Women in Karachi, Pakistan. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 20(1), 131–139. Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-011-9201-6</u>
- 8. Anitha, S. (2011). Legislating gender inequalities: The nature and patterns of domestic violence experienced by South Asian women with insecure immigration status in the United Kingdom. *Violence Against Women*, *17*(10), 1260–1285.
- Argento, E., Muldoon, K. A., Duff, P., Simo, A., Deering, K. N., & Shannon, K. (2014). High Prevalence and Partner Correlates of Physical and Sexual Violence by Intimate Partners among Street and Off-Street Sex Workers. *PLoS One*, 9(7). Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102129</u>
- Babu, B. V., & Kar, S. K. (2009). Domestic violence against women in eastern India: A population-based study on prevalence and related issues. *Bmc Public Health*, 9, 129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-9-129</u>

- 11. Babu, B. V., & Kar, S. K. (2010). Domestic violence in Eastern India: Factors associated with victimization and perpetration. *Public Health*, 124(3), 136–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2010.01.014</u>
- Bajracharya, A., & Amin, S. (2013). Microcredit and Domestic Violence in Bangladesh: An Exploration of Selection Bias Influences. *Demography*, 50(5), 1819–1843. Business Premium Collection; International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-013-0226-0</u>
- 13. Banerjee, P. R. (2014). Dowry in 21st-Century India: The sociocultural face of exploitation. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 15*(1), 34–40. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/26638331</u>
- Beattie, T. S. H., Bhattacharjee, P., Ramesh, B. M., Gurnani, V., Anthony, J., Isac, S., Mohan, H. L., Ramakrishnan, A., Wheeler, T., Bradley, J., Blanchard, J. F., & Moses, S. (2010). Violence against female sex workers in Karnataka state, south India: Impact on health, and reductions in violence following an intervention program. *Bmc Public Health*, 10, 476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-476</u>
- Bhattacharyya, M., Bedi, A. S., & Chhachhi, A. (2011). Marital Violence and Women's Employment and Property Status: Evidence from North Indian Villages. *World Development*, 39(9), 1676–1689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2011.02.001</u>
- 16. Boyle, M. H., Georgiades, K., Cullen, J., & Racine, Y. (2009). Community influences on intimate partner violence in India: Women's education, attitudes towards mistreatment and standards of living. *Social Science & Medicine*, 69(5), 691–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.06.039
- Chantler, K. (2012). Recognition of and Intervention in Forced Marriage as a Form of Violence and Abuse. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 13*(3), 176–183. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/26638112</u>
- Chandra, P. S., Satyanarayana, V. A., & Carey, M. P. (2009). Women reporting intimate partner violence in India: Associations with PTSD and depressive symptoms. *Archives of Womens Mental Health*, 12(4), 203–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-009-0065-6</u>
- 19. Chaudhuri, S., Morash, M., & Yingling, J. (2014). Marriage Migration, Patriarchal Bargains, and Wife Abuse: A Study of South Asian Women. *Violence Against Women*, 20(2), 141–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801214521326
- Chin, Y. (2011). Male backlash, bargaining, or exposure reduction?: Women's working status and physical spousal violence in India. *Journal of Population Economics*, 25(1), 175–200. Business Premium Collection; International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-011-0382-8</u>
- 21. Chowdhury, E. H. (2015). Rethinking Patriarchy, Culture and Masculinity: Transnational Narratives of Gender Violence and Human Rights Advocacy. *Journal of International*

Women's Studies, *16*(2), 98–144. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); ProQuest One Literature.

- 22. DALAL, K., RAHMAN, F., & JANSSON, B. (2009). WIFE ABUSE IN RURAL BANGLADESH. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 41(5), 561–573. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932009990046</u>
- 23. Das, S., Bapat, U., More, N. S., Alcock, G., Joshi, W., Pantvaidya, S., & Osrin, D. (2013). Intimate partner violence against women during and after pregnancy: A cross-sectional study in Mumbai slums. *Bmc Public Health*, *13*, 817. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-817</u>
- 24. Dewey, S. (2009). 'Dear Dr. Kothari...': Sexuality, Violence against Women, and the Parallel Public Sphere in India. *American Ethnologist*, *36*(1), 124–139. JSTOR.
- 25. Finfgeld-Connett, D., & Johnson, E. D. (2013). Abused South Asian women in westernized countries and their experiences seeking help. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *34*(12), 863–873.
- 26. Fisher, S. (2010). Violence against women and natural disasters: Findings from post-tsunami Sri Lanka. *Violence against Women*, *16*(8), 902–918.
- 27. Fleming, P. J., McCleary-Sills, J., Morton, M., Levtov, R., Heilman, B., & Barker, G. (2015). Risk Factors for Men's Lifetime Perpetration of Physical Violence against Intimate Partners: Results from the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES) in Eight Countries. *PLoS One*, 10(3). Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118639</u>
- 28. Gangoli, G., & Rew, M. (2011). Mothers-in-law against daughters-in-law: Domestic violence and legal discourses around mother-in-law violence against daughters-in-law in India. *Womens Studies International Forum*, 34(5), 420–429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2011.06.006</u>
- 29. Gill, A., & Mitra-Kahn, T. (2009). Explaining daughter devaluation and the issue of missing women in South Asia and the UK. *Current Sociology*, *57*(5), 684–703.
- 30. Grewal, I. (2013). Outsourcing Patriarchy FEMINIST ENCOUNTERS, TRANSNATIONAL MEDIATIONS AND THE CRIME OF 'HONOUR KILLINGS'. International Feminist Journal of Politics, 15(1), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616742.2012.755352</u>
- 31. Haile, H. B., Bock, B., & Folmer, H. (2012). Microfinance and female empowerment: Do institutions matter? Womens Studies International Forum, 35(4), 256–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2012.04.001</u>

- Heath, R. (2014). Women's Access to Labor Market Opportunities, Control of Household Resources, and Domestic Violence: Evidence from Bangladesh. *World Development*, 57, 32– 46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2013.10.028</u>
- 33. Hyman, I., Mason, R., Guruge, S., Berman, H., Kanagaratnam, P., & Manuel, L. (2011). Perceptions of factors contributing to intimate partner violence among Sri Lankan Tamil immigrant women in Canada. *Health Care for Women International*, *32*(9), 779–794.
- 34. Jacoby, H. G., & Mansuri, G. (2010). Watta Satta: Bride Exchange and Women's Welfare in Rural Pakistan. *The American Economic Review*, 100(4), 1804–1825. Business Premium Collection; International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS). <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.100.4.1804</u>
- 35. Jayasuriya, V., Wijewardena, K., & Axemo, P. (2011). Intimate Partner Violence Against Women in the Capital Province of Sri Lanka: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Help Seeking. *Violence Against Women*, 17(8), 1086–1102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801211417151</u>
- 36. Kallivayalil, D. (2010). Narratives of Suffering of South Asian Immigrant Survivors of Domestic Violence. *Violence Against Women*, 16(7), 789–811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801210374209</u>
- 37. Kalokhe, A. S., Potdar, R. R., Stephenson, R., Dunkle, K. L., Paranjape, A., del Rio, C., & Sahay, S. (2015). How well does the World Health Organization definition of domestic violence work for India? *PloS One*, *10*(3).
- Kidman, R. (2017). Child marriage and intimate partner violence: A comparative study of 34 countries. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 46(2), 662–675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyw225</u>
- Kimuna, S. R., Djamba, Y. K., Ciciurkaite, G., & Cherukuri, S. (2013). Domestic violence in India: Insights from the 2005-2006 national family health survey. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(4), 773–807.
- Koski, A. D., Stephenson, R., & Koenig, M. R. (2011). Physical Violence by Partner during Pregnancy and Use of Prenatal Care in Rural India. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*, 29(3), 245–254. Applied Social Sciences Index & Abstracts (ASSIA); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.3329/jhpn.v29i3.7872</u>
- 41. Krishnan, S., Rocca, C. H., Hubbard, A. E., Subbiah, K., Edmeades, J., & Padian, N. S. (2010). Do changes in spousal employment status lead to domestic violence? Insights from a prospective study in Bangalore, India. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(1), 136–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.09.026</u>
- Mahapatra, N. (2012). South Asian Women in the U.S. and their Experience of Domestic Violence. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27(5), 381–390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-012-9434-4</u>

- 43. Mahapatro, M., Gupta, R., & Gupta, V. (2012). The risk factor of domestic violence in India. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 37(3), 153–157. Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0218.99912</u>
- 44. Mahapatro, M., Gupta, R. N., Gupta, V., & Kundu, A. S. (2011). Domestic Violence During Pregnancy in India. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *26*(15), 2973–2990. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260510390948
- 45. Merali, N. (2009). Experiences of South Asian brides entering Canada after recent changes to family sponsorship policies. *Violence against Women*, *15*(3), 321–339.
- 46. Nasrullah, M., Haqqi, S., & Cummings, K. J. (2009). The epidemiological patterns of honour killing of women in Pakistan. *European Journal of Public Health*, 19(2), 193–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckp021</u>
- 47. Nasrullah, M., Zakar, R., & Zakar, M. Z. (2014). Child Marriage and Its Associations With Controlling Behaviors and Spousal Violence Against Adolescent and Young Women in Pakistan. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 55(6), 804–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.06.013
- 48. Naved, R. T., & Persson, L. A. (2010). Dowry and Spousal Physical Violence Against Women in Bangladesh. *Journal of Family Issues*, 31(6), 830–856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X09357554</u>
- Panchanadeswaran, S., Johnson, S. C., Sivaram, S., Srikrishnan, A. K., Zelaya, C., Solomon, S., Go, V. F., & Celentano, D. (2010). A Descriptive Profile of Abused Female Sex Workers in India. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*, 28(3), 211–220. Applied Social Sciences Index & Abstracts (ASSIA); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.3329/jhpn.v28i3.5546</u>
- Pandey, G. K., Dutt, D., & Banerjee, B. (2009). Partner and Relationship Factors in Domestic Violence Perspectives of Women From a Slum in Calcutta, India. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(7), 1175–1191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508322186</u>
- 51. Patil, S. (1973). Some Aspects of Matriarchy in Ancient India: Clan Mother to Tribal Mother. *Social Scientist*, 2(4), 42–58. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3516361</u>
- 52. Pinnewala, P. (2009). Good women, martyrs, and survivors: A theoretical framework for South Asian women's responses to partner violence. *Violence against Women*, *15*(1), 81–105.
- 53. Puri, S., Adams, V., Ivey, S., & Nachtigall, R. D. (2011). 'There is such a thing as too many daughters, but not too many sons': A qualitative study of son preference and fetal sex selection among Indian immigrants in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(7), 1169–1176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.01.027

- 54. Rahman, M., Hoque, M. A., Mostofa, Md. G., & Makinoda, S. (2014). Association Between Adolescent Marriage and Intimate Partner Violence: A Study of Young Adult Women in Bangladesh. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health*, *26*(2), 160–168. JSTOR.
- 55. Rahman, Mosfequr, Hoque, M. A., & Makinoda, S. (2011). Intimate Partner Violence Against Women: Is Women Empowerment a Reducing Factor? A Study from a National Bangladeshi Sample. *Journal of Family Violence*, 26(5), 411–420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-011-9375-3</u>
- 56. Rahman, Mosiur, Nakamura, K., Seino, K., & Kizuki, M. (2013). Does Gender Inequity Increase the Risk of Intimate Partner Violence among Women? Evidence from a National Bangladeshi Sample. *PLoS One*, 8(12). Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082423</u>
- 57. Raj, A., Sabarwal, S., Decker, M. R., Nair, S., Jethva, M., Krishnan, S., Donta, B., Saggurti, N., & Silverman, J. G. (2011). Abuse from In-Laws during Pregnancy and Post-Partum: Qualitative and Quantitative Findings from Low-income Mothers of Infants in Mumbai, India. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 15(6), 700–712. Nursing & Allied Health Database. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-010-0651-2
- 58. Raj, A., Saggurti, N., Lawrence, D., Balaiah, D., & Silverman, J. G. (2010). Association between adolescent marriage and marital violence among young adult women in India. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 110(1), 35–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2010.01.022</u>
- 59. Rashid, S. R. (2013). Bangladeshi women's experiences of their men's migration: Rethinking Power, Agency, and Subordination. *Asian Survey*, *53*(5), 883–908. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.1525/as.2013.53.5.883
- 60. Rew, M., Gangoli, G., & Gill, A. K. (2013). Violence between female in-laws in India. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 14(1), 147–160. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); ProQuest One Literature.
- 61. Rocca, C. H., Rathod, S., Falle, T., Pande, R. P., & Krishnan, S. (2009). Challenging assumptions about womens empowerment: Social and economic resources and domestic violence among young married women in urban South India. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38(2), 577–585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyn226</u>
- Sabri, B., Renner, L. M., Stockman, J. K., Mittal, M., & Decker, M. R. (2014). Risk Factors for Severe Intimate Partner Violence and Violence-Related Injuries Among Women in India. *Women & Health*, 54(4), 281–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2014.896445</u>
- 63. Sambisa, W., Angeles, G., Lance, P. M., Naved, R. T., & Curtis, S. L. (2010). Physical and Sexual Abuse of Wives in Urban Bangladesh: Husbands' Reports. *Studies in Family Planning*, *41*(3), 165–178. JSTOR.

- 64. Sanghavi, P., Bhalla, K., & Das, V. (2009). Fire-related deaths in India in 2001: A retrospective analysis of data. *The Lancet*, *373*(9671), 1282–1288. Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60235-X</u>
- 65. SAYEM, A. M., BEGUM, H. A., & MONEESHA, S. S. (2012). ATTITUDES TOWARDS JUSTIFYING INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE AMONG MARRIED WOMEN IN BANGLADESH. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 44(6), 641–660. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932012000223</u>
- 66. Schuler, S. R., Lenzi, R., & Yount, K. M. (2011). Justification of Intimate Partner Violence in Rural Bangladesh: What Survey Questions Fail to Capture. *Studies in Family Planning*, 42(1), 21–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4465.2011.00261.x</u>
- 67. Simister, J., & Mehta, P. S. (2010). Gender-Based Violence in India: Long-Term Trends. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 25(9), 1594–1611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260509354577</u>
- 68. Speizer, I. S., & Pearson, E. (2011). Association between Early Marriage and Intimate Partner Violence in India: A Focus on Youth from Bihar and Rajasthan. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(10), 1963–1981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260510372947</u>
- 69. Srivastava, S. (2012). Masculinity and its role in gender-based violence in public spaces. *Fear That Stalks: Gender Based Violence in Public Spaces. Delhi: Zubaan Books.*
- Thapa-Oli, S., Dulal, H. B., & Baba, Y. (2009). A preliminary study of intimate partner violence among Nepali women in the United States. *Violence Against Women*, 15(2), 206– 223.
- 71. Vyas, S., & Watts, C. (2009). HOW DOES ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT AFFECT WOMEN'S RISK OF INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE IN LOW AND MIDDLE INCOME COUNTRIES? A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF PUBLISHED EVIDENCE. Journal of International Development, 21(5), 577–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1500</u>
- 72. Weitzman, A. (2014). Women's and Men's Relative Status and Intimate Partner Violence in India. *Population and Development Review*, 40(1), 55–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2014.00650.x</u>
- 73. Yount, K. M., Crandall, A., Cheong, Y. F., Osypuk, T. L., Bates, L. M., Naved, R. T., & Schuler, S. R. (2016). Child Marriage and Intimate Partner Violence in Rural Bangladesh: A Longitudinal Multilevel Analysis. *Demography*, 53(6), 1821–1852. JSTOR.
- 74. Zakar, R., Zakar, M. Z., & Kraemer, A. (2012). Voices of Strength and Struggle: Women's Coping Strategies Against Spousal Violence in Pakistan. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27(16), 3268–3298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512441257</u>

75. ZHU, Y., & DALAL, K. (2010). CHILDHOOD EXPOSURE TO DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ATTITUDE TOWARDS WIFE BEATING IN ADULT LIFE: A STUDY OF MEN IN INDIA. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 42(2), 255–269. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932009990423</u>

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abrahams, N., Devries, K., Watts, C., Pallitto, C., Petzold, M., Shamu, S., & García-Moreno, C. (2014). Worldwide prevalence of non-partner sexual violence: A systematic review. *The Lancet*, 383(9929), 1648–1654. Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62243-6</u>
- Ahmed, B., Reavey, P., & Majumdar, A. (2009). Constructions of Culture' in accounts of South Asian women survivors of sexual violence. *Feminism & Psychology*, 19(1), 7-28.
- Ahmed-Ghosh, H. (2004). Chattels of society: Domestic violence in India. *Violence against women*, *10*(1), 94-118.
- Alcoff, L. M. (2009). Discourses of Sexual Violence in a Global Framework. *Philosophical Topics*, *37*(2), 123–139. JSTOR. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/43154560</u>
- Ali, P., Naylor, P., Croot, E., & O'Cathain, A. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence in Pakistan: A Systematic Review. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 16*(3), 299-315. doi:10.2307/26638361
- Ashcroft, B. & Tiffin, H. & Griffiths, G. (2002). *The empire writes back: theory and practice in post-colonial literatures*. London; New York: Routledge.
- Azim, F., Menon, N., & Siddiqi, D. M. (2009). Negotiating New Terrains: South Asian Feminisms. *Feminist Review*, 91(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/fr.2008.54</u>
- Babu, B. V., & Kar, S. K. (2010). Domestic violence in Eastern India: Factors associated with victimization and perpetration. *Public Health*, 124(3), 136–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2010.01.014</u>
- Bhabha, H. K. (1994). The location of culture. Routledge. Chapters 1 & 2.
- Bhambra, G. K. (2014). Postcolonial and decolonial dialogues. *Postcolonial Studies*, *17*(2), 115–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13688790.2014.966414</u>
- Bhatt, A. P. (2008). *The Sita Syndrome: Examining the Communicative Aspects of Domestic Violence from a South Asian Perspective.* 9, 20.
- Bloch, F., & Rao, V. (2002). Terror as a bargaining instrument: A case study of dowry violence in rural India. *American Economic Review*, 92(4), 1029-1043.
- Césaire, Aimé. (1972). Discourse on Colonialism. New York: MR. Print.
- Chakrabarty, D. (n.d.). Subaltern Studies and Postcolonial Historiography. *Nepantla: Views from South*, *1*(1).

- Chatterji, A., & Chaudhry, L. N. (Eds.). (2014). Contesting Nation: Gendered Violence in South Asia: Notes on the Postcolonial Present. Zubaan.
- Chilisa, B. (2005). Educational research within postcolonial Africa: A critique of HIV/ AIDS research in Botswana. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, *18*(6), 659–684.
- Chitnis, V., & Wright, D. C. (2007). *The Legacy of Colonialism: Law and Women's Rights in India*. 35.
- Dalal, K., & Lindqvist, K. (2012). A national study of the prevalence and correlates of domestic violence among women in India. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 24(2), 265-277.
- Daniels, J. (2015). The Trouble with White Feminism: Whiteness, Digital Feminism and the Intersectional Internet.
- Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2014). *Guidelines for Producing Statistics on Violence against Women—Statistical Surveys*. United Nations.
- Dirlik, A. (1994). The Postcolonial Aura: Third World Criticism in the Age of Global Capitalism. *Critical Inquiry*, 20(2), 328–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/448714</u>
- Ehrenfels, U. R. (1953). Matrilineal Family Background in South India. *The Journal of Educational Sociology*, 26(8), 356–361. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2264153</u>
- Eswaran, M., & Malhotra, N. (2011). Domestic violence and women's autonomy in developing countries: Theory and evidence. *Canadian Journal of Economics-Revue Canadienne D Economique*, 44(4), 1222–1263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5982.2011.01673.x</u>
- Fisher, S. (2010). Violence against women and natural disasters: Findings from post-tsunami Sri Lanka. *Violence against Women*, *16*(8), 902–918.
- Follingstad, D. R. (2017). The Challenges of Measuring Violence Against Women. In Sourcebook on Violence Against Women (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications. https://books.google.ca/books?id=_HE8DgAAQBAJ
- Fontes, L. A., & McCloskey, K. A. (2011). Cultural issues in violence against women. Sourcebook on Violence Against Women. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 151–171.
- Gandhi, L. (1998). *Postcolonial theory: A critical introduction*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Ganguly, D. (2006). *Caste, Colonialism and Counter-Modernity: Notes on a postcolonial hermeneutics of caste.* Routledge. Chapter 2: The dark Rock of Indian Tradition: caste and Orientalism.

- Gould, S. J. (1996). *The Mismeasure of Man*. Norton. https://books.google.ca/books?id=WTtTiG4eda0C
- Grande, S. (2003). WHITESTREAM FEMINISM AND THE COLONIALIST PROJECT: A REVIEW OF CONTEMPORARY FEMINIST PEDAGOGY AND PRAXIS. *Educational Theory*, *53*(3), 329–346.
- Guha, R. (1982). <u>Subaltern Studies I</u>: Writings on South Asian History & Society. New Delhi: Oxford University Press India.
- Guha, R., & Spivak, G. C. (1988). *Selected Subaltern studies*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Guruge, S. (2012). Intimate partner violence: A global health perspective. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive*, 44(4).
- Hackett, M. (2011). Domestic Violence against Women: Statistical Analysis of Crimes across India. Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 42(2), 267–XII. Canadian Business & Current Affairs Database; International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Sociology Collection. <u>http://libaccess.mcmaster.ca/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/</u> docview/943457152?accountid=12347
- Haggis, J., & Schech, S. (2000). Meaning Well and Global Good Manners: Reflections on White Western Feminist Cross-cultural Praxis. *Australian Feminist Studies*, 15(33).
- Harrell, S., & Dickey, S. A. (1985). Dowry Systems in Complex Societies. *Ethnology*, 24(2), 105–120. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3773553</u>
- Heron, B. A. (2006). *Critically Considering International Social Work Practica*. <u>https://ojs.uwindsor.ca/index.php/csw/article/download/5737/4682?inline=1</u>
- Heron, B. A. (2007). DESIRE FOR DEVELOPMENT: THE EDUCATION OF WHITE WOMEN AS DEVELOPMENT WORKERS. Wilfred Laurier University Press.
- Jack, G., & Westwood, R. (2006). Postcolonialism and the Politics of Qualitative Research in International Business. *MIR: Management International Review*, 46(4), 481-501. Retrieved July 4, 2020, from <u>www.jstor.org/stable/40836099</u>
- Jayasuriya, V., Wijewardena, K., & Axemo, P. (2011). Intimate Partner Violence Against Women in the Capital Province of Sri Lanka: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Help Seeking. *Violence Against Women*, 17(8), 1086–1102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801211417151</u>
- Jeyaseelan, L., Kumar, S., Neelakantan, N., Peedicayil, A., Pillai, R., & Duvvury, N. (2007). Physical spousal violence against women in India: some risk factors. *Journal of biosocial science*, *39*(5), 657-670.

- Joshi, S. (n.d.). *Colonial notion of South Asia*. South Asian Journal. Retrieved 13 July 2020, from <u>https://www.sas.upenn.edu/~dludden/Sjoshi04.htm</u>
- Kaviraj, S. (1994). Crisis of the Nation-state in India. *Polotical Studies*, XLII, 115–129.
- Kalokhe, A., del Rio, C., Dunkle, K., Stephenson, R., Metheny, N., Paranjape, A., & Sahay, S. (2017). Domestic violence against women in India: A systematic review of a decade of quantitative studies. *Global public health*, 12(4), 498-513.
- Kerner, I. (2017). Relations of difference: Power and inequality in intersectional and postcolonial feminist theories. *Current Sociology Review*, 65(6), 846–866.
- Khan, K. B., McDonald, H., Baumbusch, J. L., Kirkham, S. R., Tan, E., & Amderson, J. M. (2007). Taking up postcolonial feminism in the field: Working through a method. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 30, 228–242.
- Khandakar, E., & Danopoulos, C. P. (2004). *Microfinance and Third World Development: A Critical Analysis*. 19.
- Koelble, T. A., & Lipuma, E. (2008). Democratizing Democracy: A Postcolonial Critique of Conventional Approaches to the 'Measurement of Democracy'. *Democratization*, 15(1), 1–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13510340701768075</u>
- Krishnan, S., Subbiah, K., Khanum, S., Chandra, P. S., & Padian, N. S. (2012). An Intergenerational Women's Empowerment Intervention to Mitigate Domestic Violence: Results of a Pilot Study in Bengaluru, India. *Violence Against Women*, 18(3), 346–370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801212442628</u>
- Lau, L., & Mendes, A. C. (2012). *Re-Orientalism and South Asian Identity Politics: The Oriental Other Within*. Taylor & Francis. <u>https://books.google.ca/books?id=7zngCgAAQBAJ</u>
- Leake, E., & Haines, D. (2017). Lines of (In)Convenience: Sovereignty and Border-Making in Postcolonial South Asia, 1947–1965. *The Journal of Asian Studies*, 76(4), 963–985. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021911817000808
- Levin, G. (2012). Critique of Microcredit as a Development Model. 4, 10.
- Lloyd, D., & Wolfe, P. (2016). Settler colonial logics and the neoliberal regime. *Settler Colonial Studies*, 6(2), 109–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2201473X.2015.1035361</u>
- Loomba, A. (1993). Dead women tell no tales: Issues of female subjectivity, subaltern agency and tradition in colonial and post-colonial writings on widow immolation in India. In *History workshop* (No. 36, pp. 209-227). Oxford University Press.

Loomba, A. (1998). Colonialism-postcolonialism. New York: Routledge.

- Lorde, A. (1984). "The Master's Tools Will Never Dismantle the Master's House." Sister Outsider: Essays and Speeches. Ed. Berkeley, CA: Crossing Press. 110- 114. 2007. Print.
- Macdonald, H. (2009). A conversation: Subaltern studies in South Asia and post-colonial anthropology in Africa. *Anthropology Southern Africa*, *32*(1–2), 59–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23323256.2009.11499979</u>
- Mani, L. (1987). *Contentious traditions: the debate on sati in colonial India* (pp. 88-126). Berkeley, Calif: Univ. of California Press.
- Mantena, R. (2007). The Question of History in Precolonial India. *History and Theory*, 46(3), 396–408. JSTOR.
- Mathur, S. (2000). History and Anthropology in South Asia: Rethinking the Archive | Saloni Mathur | Academic Room. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 28, 89–106.
- McEwan, C. (2001). Postcolonialism, feminism and development: Intersections and dilemmas. *Progress in Development Studies*, 1(2), 93–111.
- Mody, M. (2017). The Borderlands Feminine: A Feminist, Decolonial Framework for Remembering Motherlines in South Asia/Transnational Culture. 13(1), 12.
- Mohanty, C. T. (1984). Under Western eyes: Feminist scholarship and colonial discourses. *Boundary* 2, 333-358.
- Naregal, V. (2000). Language and power in pre-colonial western India: Textual hierarchies, literate audiences and colonial philology. *The Indian Economic and Social History Review*, *37*(3).
- *National Family Health Survey*. (n.d.). Retrieved 15 June 2020, from <u>http://rchiips.org/nfhs/about.shtml</u>
- Nayak, M. B., Byrne, C. A., Martin, M. K., & Abraham, A. G. (2003). Attitudes toward violence against women: A cross-nation study. *Sex roles*, *49*(7-8), 333-342.
- Omar, S. M. (2012). Rethinking Development from a Postcolonial Perspective. *Journal of Conflictology*, *3*(1).
- Ozkazanc-Pan, B. (2012). Postcolonial feminist research: Challenges and complexities. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal, 31*(5/6), 573–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151211235532</u>
- Palermo, T., Bleck, J., & Peterman, A. (2014). Tip of the Iceberg: Reporting and Gender-Based Violence in Developing Countries. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 179(5), 602–612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt295</u>

- Panchanadeswaran, S., & Koverola, C. (2005). The voices of battered women in India. *Violence* against women, 11(6), 736-758.
- Papp, A. (2009). Culturally driven violence against women. Star.
- Patil, S. (1973). Some Aspects of Matriarchy in Ancient India: Clan Mother to Tribal Mother. *Social Scientist*, 2(4), 42–58. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3516361</u>
- Prasad, A. (Ed.). (2003). *Postcolonial theory and organizational analysis: A critical engagement* (1st ed). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rahman, M., Hoque, M. A., & Makinoda, S. (2011). Intimate Partner Violence Against Women: Is Women Empowerment a Reducing Factor? A Study from a National Bangladeshi Sample. *Journal of Family Violence*, 26(5), 411–420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-011-9375-3
- Rani, M., & Bonu, S. (2009). Attitudes toward wife beating: A cross-country study in Asia. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 24(8), 1371-1397.
- Rastogi, M., & Therly, P. (2006). Dowry and its link to violence against women in India: Feminist psychological perspectives. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 7*(1), 66-77.
- Razack, S. (2003). A Violent Culture or Culturalized Violence?: Feminist Narratives of Sexual Violence against South Asian Women. *Studies in Practical Philosophy*, *3*(1), 80-104.
- Rocca, C. H., Rathod, S., Falle, T., Pande, R. P., & Krishnan, S. (2008). Challenging assumptions about women's empowerment: social and economic resources and domestic violence among young married women in urban South India. *International journal of epidemiology*, 38(2), 577-585.
- Said, E. W. (1978). Orientalism. New York: Pantheon Books.
- Sarkar, M. (2010). A study on domestic violence against adult and adolescent females in a rural area of West Bengal. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, *35*(2), 311–315. Nursing & Allied Health Database. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0218.66881
- Sayem, A. M., Begum, H. A., & Moneesha, S. S. (2012). ATTITUDES TOWARDS JUSTIFYING INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE AMONG MARRIED WOMEN IN BANGLADESH. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 44(6), 641–660. International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS); Nursing & Allied Health Database; Sociology Collection. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932012000223</u>
- Shukla, P. K. (2001). Pre-Colonial Cultural Legacy and Colonial Intervention: An Historical Appraisal. *Social Scientist*, 29(3/4), 61–73. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3518339</u>
- Spivak, G. C. (1999). "Can the subaltern speak?". Harvard University Press.

- Stepan, N. (1982). *The Idea of Race in Science: Great Britain, 1800-1960*. Macmillan. https://books.google.ca/books?id=ghaBAAAAMAAJ
- Syed, J., & Ali, F. (2011). The White Woman's Burden: From colonial civilization to Third World development. *Third World Quarterly*, *32*(2), 349–365.
- Tran, T. D., Nguyen, H., & Fisher, J. (2016). Attitudes towards Intimate Partner Violence against Women among Women and Men in 39 Low- and Middle-Income Countries. *PLoS One*, *11*(11). Nursing & Allied Health Database. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167438</u>
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K. K., Colquhoun, H., Levac, D., Moher, D., Peters, M. D., Horsley, T., Weeks, L., Hempel, S. et al. (2018). PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med.169(7):467-473. <u>doi:10.7326/M18-0850.</u>
- Walker, K. L. M. (2008). Neoliberalism on the Ground in Rural India: Predatory Growth, Agrarian Crisis, Internal Colonization, and the Intensification of Class Struggle. *Journal* of Peasant Studies, 35(4), 557–620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150802681963</u>
- Washbrook, D. (1990). South Asia, the World System, and World Capitalism. *The Journal of Asian Studies*, 49(3), 479–508. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2057768</u>
- Wichterich, C. (2017). Microcredits, Returns and Gender: Of Reliable Poor Women and Financial Inclusion in South Asia. In V. Xaxa, D. Saha, & R. Singha (Eds.), Work, Institutions and Sustainable Livelihood (pp. 275–301). Springer Singapore. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5756-4_11</u>
- World Health Organization. (2012). Understanding and addressing violence against women: Intimate partner violence (No. WHO/RHR/12.36). World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2013, June 20). WHO | Violence against women: A 'global health problem of epidemic proportions'. *WHO*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2013/violence_against_women_2013062 0/en/
- Young, R. (2001). *Postcolonialism: An historical introduction*. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishers.